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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

V. Case No. 22-cr-15-APM
ELMER STEWART RHODES, III,
KELLY MEGGS,

KENNETH HARRELSON,
JESSICA WATKINS, and
THOMAS CALDWELL
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Defendants.

DEFENDANTS’ REPLY MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES
IN SUPPORT OF JOINT MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL
PURSUANT TO RULE 29

Defendants Stewart Rhodes, Kelly Meggs, Kenneth Harrelson, Jessica Watkins, and
Thomas Caldwell, by and through their undersigned counsel, submit this Reply Memorandum of
Points and Authorities in further support of their Rule 29 motions to include ECF 432 and 435 and
in Response to the Government’s Opposition Memorandum at ECF 440.

ARGUMENT
I. Count One: Seditious Conspiracy

A. The government mischaracterizes and undermines the elements of Section 2384.

In its Opposition, the government argues that the seditious conspiracy statute “[d]oes not
require forcible resistance to a show of force from the government.” ECF 440 at 8. Put another
way, the government argues that liability under Section 2384 does not “arise[] only where
individuals intend forcible resistance against a proactive use of force (or compulsion) by the

government to compel obedience to a command of law.” Id. These statements are
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misinterpretations of the law set forth by the Supreme Court in Baldwin v. Franks, 120 U.S. 678
(1887).

As the government correctly notes, Baldwin established that the evidence in a seditious
conspiracy statute must show that the defendants planned a “forcible resistance of the authority
of the United States while endeavoring to carry the laws into execution.” ECF 440 at 7 (emphasis
added) (citing Baldwin, 120 U.S. at 693). The government proceeds by arguing, however, that the
“forcible resistance” need not be directed at some “show of force” by the government. /d. at 8. As
previously noted by Defendant Caldwell, however, this interpretation belies the very definition of
the word “resistance” at the time the Supreme Court used it in the Baldwin decision:

The key word is “resist.” To “forcibly resist” governmental authority clearly means
to stand against or oppose an enforcement action by government officials:

RESISTANCE. The act of resisting opposition; the employment of
forcible means to prevent the execution of an endeavor in which
force is employed.

BLACK’S LAW DICTIONARY (1st ed. 1891) (emphasis added). Likewise, Bouvier’s
Dictionary defined “resistance” as: “The opposition of force to force.”BOUVIER’S
DICTIONARY, supra, (defining “resistance”); see also State v. Welch, 37 Wis. 196,
201 (1875) (noting that “Bouvier defines [“resistance’] to be the opposition of force
to force.”). One cannot “forcibly resist” a passive opponent. Instead, a “forcible
resistance” can only occur in response to government officials using physical force,
compulsion, an assertion of authority, or some other “force.”
ECF 384 at 10. Thus, the crux of the Baldwin holding is that the force must be aimed towards at
least one human, who has authority to enforce the law in question, “while [that authorized person
is] endeavoring to carry the laws into execution.” ECF 384 at 12 (emphasis added) (quoting
Baldwin, 120 U.S. at 693).
The government attempts to distinguish the case at bar from Baldwin, Anderson v. United

States, 273 F. 20, 26 (8th Cir. 1921), and Haywood, 268 F. 795 (7th Cir. 1920), by simply by the

fact that the defendants in those cases targeted non-governmental actors. See ECF 384 at 8. But
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those cases—each of which involve reversing a seditious conspiracy conviction—offer more
insight and involve more similarities with the instant case than the government admits. For
example, the Anderson court explained

Inasmuch as this count not only fails to charge the intended use of the requisite

force as an element of the conspiracy, but specifically charges that a force was to

be exerted in a manner and for a purpose not within the statute, it negatives any

inference that might be indulged from the use of the bare statutory words that the

prohibited force inheres in the charge.
Anderson, 273 F. at 26-27. While the Anderson defendants were charged with conspiring to use
force against industrial interests, they were also charged with inciting and aiding others to "fail to
register [and] to fail and refuse to enlist for military service” by distributing publications and songs
discouraging registration and enlistment. /d. at 24. Though clearly aimed at hindering the
execution of the draft laws, this action was not taken in response to some positive show of force
by the government. See id. at 26-27.

And United States v. Stone, which followed Anderson in reversing a conviction under §
2384, the court found that:

the discussions of seditious conspiracy in Baldwin and Anderson are important to

this case; while the Government presented evidence of vile and often hateful

speech, and may have even shown that certain Defendants conspired to commit

some crime—perhaps to murder local law enforcement—offensive speech and a

conspiracy to do something other than forcibly resist a positive show of authority

by the Federal Government is not enough to sustain a charge of seditious

conspiracy. A conspiracy to murder law enforcement is a far cry from a conspiracy

to forcibly oppose the authority of the Government of the United States.
United States v. Stone, No. 10-20123, 2012 WL 1034937, at *5 (E.D. Mich. Mar. 27, 2012). The
District Court in Stone explained that in Anderson v. United States, the Eighth Circuit applied
Baldwin and dismissed a seditious conspiracy charge where the force sought to be exerted was

“not against those whose duty it should be to execute the laws.” Id. at 4 (citing Anderson, 273 F.

at 26); see also United States v. Rahman, 854 F. Supp. 254 (S.D.N.Y. 1994); Commonwealth of
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Pennsylvania v. Nelson, 350 U.S. 497, 505 (1956) (“Sedition against the United States is not a
local offense. It is a crime against the Nation.” (citation and quotation marks omitted)).

The government relies on United States v. Rahman, 189 F.3d 88 (2d Cir. 1999), for its
argument that seditious conspiracy does not require “a proactive use of force (or compulsion) by
the government to compel obedience to a command of law.” ECF 440 at 8. However, despite being
convicted on both the “levy war” and “oppose by force the authority of” prongs of Section 2384,
the court only addressed the former prong when holding that the evidence was sufficient. See
Rahman, 189 F.3d at 123-24. The Second Circuit held that there was “ample evidence in the record
to support the jury’s finding that there was indeed a conspiracy to “levy war” against the United
States” and that the conspiracy contemplated the use of force. Id. at 124. Evidence included his
participation in the World Trade Center attack and a plot to bomb the Lincoln and Holland Tunnels
and the UN. Id. The defendants purchased fuel, fertilizers, and timers and actively sought
detonators. Id. at 123-124. The defendants had also begun construction of the explosives when
they were arrested, in addition to participants planning to murder Mubarak among others. /d. The
Rahman court’s discussion of the evidence does nothing to support the government’s view of
Section 2384’s other two prongs.

The government was required to prove that Rhodes and Meggs intended to use force
against some “actual exercise” or “positive assertion” of governmental authority. “The lawful
transfer of power,” as it was charged in the indictment and illustrated at trial, does not qualify as
such an exercise of power. Consequently, the government’s argument fails at its first stage.

B. The government’s repeated citations to Defendants’ hyperbolic statements does not

cure the lack of evidence showing Rhodes and Meggs actually agreed to use force
against the government.

The government argues that the “essential nature of the plan” was “to oppose by any means



Case 1:22-cr-00015-APM Document 462 Filed 01/24/23 Page 5 of 36

necessary, up to and including the use of force, the lawful transfer of power following the 2020
presidential election.” ECF 440 at 10 (emphasis added). In its Opposition, the government spends
over five pages recounting messages from the exhibits it used in trial, including several statements
made by the other Defendants who were acquitted of seditious conspiracy. See ECF 440 at 10-16.
The messages, while bombastic and extreme, simply do not show any agreement or plan to actually
use force against the United States government. And vague references to what may occur—
“whatever happens happens (at night)” (the reference to the night does not relate to the ECA) (Gov.
Exh. 1008 Msg.1.S.656.9990), or “if he fails to act, then we will” (Gov. Exh. 6860 Msg.
1.S.656.10101-02)—are sweeping platitudes of the type uttered by people in countless contexts
every day. They do not convey an actual agreement—Iet alone an agreement to perpetrate violence.
C. The government’s broad interpretation of Section 2384 further demonstrates that it is
impermissibly vague and was unconstitutional as applied to the First Amendment
activities of Rhodes and Meggs.

The government argues that the seditious conspiracy statute’s “application to the facts
adduced at trial bears no relationship to protected First Amendment activity such as protesting, but
instead targets the defendants’ conduct of planning to use force—and for many, in fact using
force—in an effort to stop the transfer of presidential power.” ECF 440 at 21. “That application,”
the government argues, “gives rise to no unconstitutional vagueness concerns.” Id. This argument
ignores the breadth of the statute and the underlying facts which give rise to the Defendants’ First
Amendment challenge. As explained in Rahman, “laws targeting ‘sedition” must be scrutinized
with care to assure that the threat of prosecution will not deter expression of unpopular viewpoints
by persons ideologically opposed to the government.” Rahman, 189 F.3d at 116. The Rahman
court further explained that “[t]here is indeed authority suggesting that the word ‘seditious’ does

not sufficiently convey what conduct it forbids to serve as an essential element of a crime. Id. The
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Rahman court also attempted to distinguish Keyishian v. Board of Regents, 385 U.S. 589, 598
(1967), which found regulations void for vagueness and “dangers fatal to First Amendment
freedoms inhere in the word ‘seditious.’” /d.

The Supreme Court has noted that “mere Party membership, even with knowledge of the
Party's unlawful goals, cannot suffice to justify criminal punishment, nor may it warrant a finding
of moral unfitness justifying disbarment.” Keyishian v. Board of Regents, 385 U.S. 589, 607
(1967) (internal citations omitted). A long line of Supreme Court cases addresses the risk that
exists here, as argued by the Defendants:

The seditious conspiracy statute as applied in this case is constitutionally vague
under the Fifth Amendment because unimpeached and undisputed evidence at trial
showed that defendants headed to the Capitol because the organization they worked
with obtained a permit to protest at the Capitol on January 6th, 2022 to take place
after the rally for the President on the mall. (KM-Exs. 71, 72 and 73). Based on the
application of this case, the statute is constitutionally vague and violates the First
Amendment because any legal planned protest activity against Congress can be
construed as an attempt to “overthrow the government.

ECF 435 at 20).
Similarly, the Supreme Court has explained the risk of vagueness in a statute that can lead
to selective law enforcement with protest activity:

As counsel [for appellant] admitted, a war protestor who, while attending a rally at
which it begins to rain, evidences his disrespect for the American flag by
contemptuously covering himself with it in order to avoid getting wet, would be
prosecuted under the Massachusetts statute. Yet a member of the American Legion
who, caught in the same rainstorm while returning from an 'America -- Love It or
Leave It' rally, similarly uses the flag, but does so regrettably and without a
contemptuous attitude, would not be prosecuted." 471 F.2d, at 102 (emphasis in
original). Where inherently vague statutory language permits such selective law
enforcement, there is a denial of due process.

Smith v. Goguen, 415 U.S. 566, 575-576 (1974).
The Court of Appeals in Rahman noted that the word “seditious” does not appear in the

text of the statute, but only in the caption. Rahman, 189 F.3d at 116. The court proceeded to
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determine that Section 2384 was not vague as applied to the defendants in that case because “[the
elements] unquestionably specify that agreement to use force is an essential element of the crime.”
1d.

As the Defendants have previously argued, while Defendant Rhodes’ words at times
expressed the belief that a civil war was imminent—or even a personal desire for a civil war and
its attendant violence at some undetermined future time—they did not amount to an incitement to
“imminent lawless action.” C.f. Yates v. United States, 354 U.S. 298, 318 (1957), overruled in part
on other grounds, Burks v. United States, 437 U.S. 1, 7 (1978). Thus, the application of the
seditious conspiracy statute to these defendants constitutes both a vagueness issue and a violation
of the First Amendment. The government made no attempt to distinguish any of the cases cited by
the Defendants on this point, including but not limited to: New York Times Co. v. Sullivan, 376
U.S. 254, 269 (1964); Reno v. ACLU, 521 U.S. 844, 870-871 (1997); Stomberg v. California 283
U.S. 359, 369 (1931); Jeannette Rankin Brigade v. Chief of Capitol Police, 342 F. Supp. 575, 582-
584 (D.D.C.), aff'd, 409 U.S. 972, 34 L. Ed. 2d 236, 93 S. Ct. 311 (1972); Bynum v. United States
Capitol Police Bd., 93 F. Supp. 2d 50, 54, (D.D.C. 2000), vacated in part on other grounds, 96 F.
Supp. 2d 4; Watts v. United States, 394 U.S. 705, 707 (1969); Herndon v. Lowry, 301 U.S. 242,
258 (1937); and Whitney v. California, 274 U.S. 357, 374 (1927), overruled on other grounds by
Brandenburg v. Ohio, 395 U.S. 444 (1969). See ECF 435 at 19-24.

Yet the government argues with a broad brush: “This statute’s application to the facts
adduced at trial bears no relationship to protected First Amendment activity such as protesting, but
instead targets the defendants’ conduct of planning to use force—and for many, in fact using
force—in an effort to stop the transfer of presidential power. That application gives rise to no

unconstitutional vagueness concerns.” ECF 440 at 21. Furthermore, it only cites to one case—
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Wisconsin v. Mitchell, 508 U.S. 476, 484 (1993)—for the notion that courts may consider First
Amendment speech as evidence of some other crime. There, however, the Supreme Court stated
that only “[o]nce any ambiguities as to the meaning of the statute are resolved, we may form our
own judgment as to its operative effect.” Id. at 484.

The Supreme Court in Alvarez explained,

Still, the sweeping, quite unprecedented reach of the statute puts it in conflict with
the First Amendment. Here the lie was made in a public meeting, but the statute
would apply with equal force to personal, whispered conversations within a home.
The statute seeks to control and suppress all false statements on this one subject in
almost limitless times and settings. And it does so entirely without regard to
whether the lie was made for the purpose of material gain. See San Francisco Arts
& Athletics, Inc. v. United States Olympic Comm., 483 U.S. 522, 539-540, 107 S.
Ct. 2971, 97 L. Ed. 2d 427 (1987) (prohibiting a nonprofit corporation from
exploiting the “commercial magnetism” of the word “Olympic” when organizing
an athletic competition (internal quotation marks omitted)).

United States v. Alvarez, 567 U.S. 709, 722-723 (2012).

It is the government, however, that argues the sweeping expanse of Section 2384. As
previously noted, it argues that “Section 2384 does not require forcible resistance to a show of
force from the government.” ECF 440 at 8. The government further argues “[t]hat language—such
as references to “positive assertion or actual exercise of authority”—does not imply that liability
under Section 2384 arises only where individuals intend forcible resistance against a proactive use
of force (or compulsion) by the government to compel obedience to a command of law.” Id. It
goes on to assert that

[i]t follows, therefore, that the evidence need not establish that the defendants

settled on every detail of an intricately developed plan. Nor does it matter whether

the persons who formed the agreement actually carried out their plans or whether

the agreement ultimately was successful; though, proof concerning the

accomplishment of the object of the conspiracy may certainly be evidence of the

existence of the conspiracy itself.

Id. at 10 (citing Court’s Final Jury Instructions, ECF No. 400 at 17-19).
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Thus, the government’s entire case was built on the communications among these
Defendants related to Biden and Trump and the fact that certain Defendants entered the Capitol.
Under the vague and overbroad application of association that the government has applied, the
hundreds of other protestors on January 6 could arguably be construed as “co-conspirators” for
entering the Capitol with these Defendants. Belonging to a chat or paying a membership fee to a
national organization appears to be enough to become an alleged ‘““co-conspirator”—even when
that organization had independent and unrelated state chapters.

D. Contrary to the government’s contention, the impermissible variance from the
conspiracy charged in the indictment was prejudicial to the Defendants.

The government argues that
[t]o obtain reversal, the defendant bears the burden of showing that “(1) that the
evidence established the existence of multiple conspiracies, rather than the one
conspiracy alleged in the indictment, and (2) that because of the multiplicity of
defendants and conspiracies, the jury was substantially likely to transfer evidence
from one conspiracy to a defendant involved in another.
ECF 440 at 18-19 (quoting United States v. Tarantino, 846 F.2d 1384, 1391 (D.C. Cir. 1988)).
Tarantino nevertheless also explained that “a variance between the allegations of the indictment
and the proof at trial constitutes grounds for reversal only if the appellant proves (1) that the
evidence at trial established facts materially variant from those alleged in the indictment, and (2)
that the variance caused substantial prejudice.” Tarantino, 846 F.2d at 1391 (citing e.g. United
States v. Caporale, 806 F.2d 1487, 1499-1500 (11th Cir. 1986), cert. denied, 483 U.S. 1021, 107
S. Ct. 3265, 97 L. Ed. 2d 763 (1987)).
The government attempts to argue that Defendants failed to establish prejudice from the
variance they claim occurred. ECF 440 at 17. However, as Defendants argued in their motion, the

government’s misrepresentation of the evidence is obviously prejudicial. Defendants wrote,

“[t]his post-indictment broadening of the charges prejudiced the defendants because they relied on
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the government’s theory of the case as set forth in the Indictment to formulate their defenses and
the remainder of the evidence was insufficient to sustain a conviction.” ECF 435-1 at 10. So the
government turns to its overbroad and vague language that is present in the Indictment: “Indeed,
the conspiracy charged in the indictment runs from November through January 2021, including
and following the January 20 Inauguration date.” ECF 440 at 18 (internal citations omitted).
Having recognized its failure to establish the plan described in the Indictment, the government
attempted to formulate an alternative theory of liability—that the defendants actually planned to

“start a rebellion.” In closing, the government argued:

Think about that, ladies and gentlemen. Mr. Rhodes told you in his own words he
was prepared to start a rebellion the day that President Biden took office. We'll
talk about, at the end of this trial, that that is exactly what is charged in the
conspiracy. The charges in this case don't end on January 20th. The defendant is
charged with engaging in a conspiracy to use force against the government from
the time period of November through January of 2021.

(11.18. 2022, Morning Session, Tr. 9926, L. 10-18) (emphasis added)."

! These discrepancies in the evidence further highlight the vagueness and overbreadth behind the
seditious conspiracy statute as applied to these facts. Instead of addressing the cases on both
vagueness and overbreadth as well as the First Amendment, the government argues that—as a
simple matter—they have a jury verdict. Yet it is undisputed that Defendants entered the Capitol
with protestors after attending a Rally for the President of the United States, which included the
Defendants. Furthermore, the facts the government raises in its Opposition are just as easily
applied to protestors and political speech:

That same day, December 23, Meggs told those on the OKFL Hangout chat: “We
need to surround the Capitol all the way around with Patriots screaming so they
hear us inside ! Scare the hell out of them with about a million surrounding them
should do the trick !” Id. (Msg. 1.S.656.9619). He then posted a photograph of Oath
Keepers flags and wrote, “These will be flying Jan 6th in front of the Capitol !!” Id.
(Msg. 1.5.656.9620). On December 24, Meggs wrote to the same chat, “We have
10-12 staying there. So it’s gonna be a WILD time in DC we gotta get the crowd
going during the day. I think we get everyone up good and close to the Capitol bldg
so they can here is inside. Then at night well whatever happens happens.” Id. (Msg.
1.S.656.9990).

10
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Again, missing from the narrative in the case at bar is the agreement to use force where
undisputedly none of the Defendants brought firearms or told anyone to bring firearms into the
District. Instead, the government brushes over this gaping discrepancy and argues,

Further evincing their close coordination, the coconspirators—including those who

breached the building and those who had not—met together on Capitol grounds

within hours of Stack One and Stack Two breaching the building. /d. The

defendants’ coordinated actions on January 6 also provide compelling evidence of

their conspiratorial agreement.

ECF 440 at 14. Here, the government is referencing the protestors standing near the grounds
around 3:00 - 4:00 PM. The fact that these Defendants found each other outside the Capitol and
were members of an association (the Oath Keepers) does not in and of itself show coordination,
but constitutes “mere association.” And freedom of association is First Amendment activity.
Moreover, an alleged call between Rhodes and Greene and allegedly Kelly Meggs lacks
foundation to be coordination to enter the Capitol where there is no corroborating evidence and
neither Rhodes or Greene are alleged to have entered the Capitol.

The government further conflates evidence when it argues:

Nor did the defendants’ unlawful agreement cease on January 6. That night, Rhodes

wrote to the DC OP: Jan 6 21 Signal chat: “Patriots entering their own Capitol to

send a message to the traitors is NOTHING compared to what’s coming.” Gov.

Exh. 6732 (Msg. 1.S.159.1328). Meggs echoed Rhodes, adding to that same Signal

chat a message stating, “We aren’t quitting!! We are reloading!!” Id. (Msg.

1.S.159.1326). Between January 6 and the Inauguration on January 20, Rhodes did

reload—to the tune of $17,000 in firearms and tactical equipment . . . .

First, the government combines the allegations related to multiple conspiracies in this

paragraph. Secondly, the government’s witness, Special Agent Kelsey Harris, testified that he was

unaware of any evidence that Mr. Meggs ever went back to the Capitol after he left on January

ECF 440 at 12.

11
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6th. TR.6244: 7-10 (Nov. 1, 2022). And Agent Harris further testified that this message “We
aren’t quitting!! We are reloading!!” was not to be taken literally and that it was rhetoric. Tr. at
6244 1.17-25 —6245 1.1-5. Furthermore, the fact that one individual (Rhodes) legally bought
firearms in Texas does not evidence an “agreement’ to act.

But at trial, the government instead argued:

The evidence has shown for weeks, if not months, prior to January , these

defendants banded together and agreed to do whatever was necessary, up to and

including using force and violence, to stop that election result from becoming

finalized. And then on January 6th, they struck. They saw the riot unfolding at the

Capitol, they threw their bodies to the cause, and they took it.
ECF 435 at 16 (citing 11.18.2022, Morning Session, Tr. 9980-91)). This is prejudicial and
evidences the vagueness with which the statute is applied; Rhodes, Meggs, Watkins, Harrelson,
and Caldwell were not charged with assault and there was no evidence they destroyed property.
Many protestors indeed “threw their bodies to the cause” on January 6" as a part of a protest, but
they are not all charged with seditious conspiracy, because the government cannot prove any
agreement to use force. The allegation raised in closing that “they threw their bodies to the cause”
lacked factual foundation and prejudiced the defendants without supporting evidence. Even
assuming arguendo that the government’s reliance on “pushing past officers” is true (despite
CCTYV showing otherwise, see KM-86), “pushing past law enforcement” is not the “use of force”
contemplated by the seditious conspiracy statute. Entering the Capitol at a point when a number
of protestors entered it is as well and Congress was indisputably already in recess is certainly not
evidence of “an agreement to overthrow the government.”

The Defendants were also prejudiced by the mischaracterization of the evidence when it

argued that:

12
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[t]hey stopped the lawful transfer of presidential power. They physically drove

members of Congress from the Capitol Building, and they halted Congress’s joint

session.
Tr. 10294 1.12-15 (Nov. 21, 2022). The government’s own witness, Thomas Wickam, set forth
that Congress was in recess first at 2:18 PM on January 6, and again at 2:29 PM. Tr. 4441:21-25
-Tr. 4443:1-10 (Oct. 19, 2022). Defendants could not have “halted” the Congressional session
when it was already in recess; Mr. Meggs and others, such as Graydon Young, reached the steps
of the Capitol at 2:35 PM, Tr. 9950:6-7 (Nov. 18, 2022), and then undisputedly only entered the
Capitol at 2:41 PM—well after Congress was already in recess the second time. A variance that
so clearly misrepresents the evidence is prejudicial.

The government further conflated evidence when it ignored the fact that Mr. Meggs has no
military background. Instead, the government argued that, “Mr. Dolan explained to you the
concept of the commanders' intent, which he learned during his 19 years as a United States Marine.
The commanders' intent explains the reasons why the group wants to achieve the common goal.”
Tr. 10302 1.22-25. However, the government read a stipulation that makes clear Mr. Meggs has
no military background. (Gov’t Stipulation, 3004). Even in its Opposition, the government
continues to expound on the military hierarchy when it argues “According to Young, Kelly Meggs
was his superior and was attempting to ‘rendezvous with Stewart’ to decide ‘next actions as a
group.”” ECF 440 at 29 (citing 10/31/22PM Tr. at 5857). These references attempt to transform
into a military exercise what was simply members of a group who all attended a rally for the
President of the United States, after which they headed up to the Capitol with other protestors,
where more protests were scheduled.

These mischaracterizations of the evidence, combined with the impermissible variance by

the government, show that the jury was substantially likely to transfer evidence from one theory

13
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of seditious conspiracy to another. This undoubtedly prejudiced the defendants, requiring reversal
as to Count One.

II. Counts Two and Three: Conspiracy to Obstruct an Official Proceeding and
Obstruction of an Official Proceeding

A. The government failed to prove that Defendants acted “corruptly.”

The vagueness present in the application of seditious conspiracy statute is further
confirmed by the government’s own argument on Conspiracy to Obstruct an Official Proceeding
charge. As the government set forth:

Counts Two and Three charge all the defendants with conspiracy and substantive
violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1512(c)(2). Section 1512(c)(2) makes it a crime to
corruptly obstruct or impede an official proceeding, which includes the
Certification of the Electoral College vote. See United States v. Caldwell, 581 F.
Supp. 3d 1, 11-15 (D.D.C. 2021). The same general conspiracy principles described
above apply here.

ECF 440 at 23.
The government continues its argument, showing the lack of evidence in the case relating
to corrupt intent:

Even if the jury did not find a conspiracy to obstruct the Certification and interfere
with members of Congress prior to January 6, the defendants’ conduct and
statements on that day would also be sufficient evidence upon which the jurors
could convict the defendants of the conspiracy charges in Counts Two and Four.
That day, at about 1:25 p.m., when it became clear that President Trump and Vice
President Pence were not going to intercede to stop the Certification of the Electoral
College vote, and as a large crowd gathered on the Capitol grounds and converged
on the building, Rhodes sent the messages described above, lauding the patriots
who were taking matters into their own hands. Gov. Exh. 1500. Similarly, at 1:41
p.m., Rhodes sent a message to the OLD Leadership CHAT stating, “Hey, the
founding generation stormed the governors mansion in MA . . . . They didn’t fire
on them, but they street fought. That’s where we are now. Next comes our
‘Lexington.”” Id. In the context of all the messages Rhodes and his co-defendants
had exchanged in the lead-up to January 6, these words were a call to action.

ECF 440 at 27.

This argument highlights the lack of evidence and the prejudicial variances in the

14
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Indictment and the argument by the government because the government must prove that the
defendant acted with “consciousness of wrongdoing.” Arthur Andersen LLP v. United States, 544
U.S. 696, 705-06 (2005); see United States v. Caldwell, No. 21-cr-28, 2021 WL 6062718, at *11
(D.D.C. Dec. 20, 2021). This means the defendant’s conduct must be “independently criminal,”
that is “inherently malign” and “committed with the intent to obstruct an official proceeding.”
Sandlin, No. 21-cr-88 (DLF), 2021 WL 5865006, at *13 (D.D.C. Dec. 10, 2021) (internal quotation
marks omitted) (quoting United States v. North, 910 F.2d 843, 943 (D.C. Cir. 1990) (Silberman,
J., concurring in part and dissenting in part); Arthur Andersen, 544 U.S. at 704). Thus, those who
engage in lawful, innocent conduct—even when done with the intent to obstruct, impede, or
influence the official proceeding—cannot be guilty of violating § 1512(c)(2). Id. (citing Arthur
Andersen, 544 U.S. at 705-06).

Specifically, the government has failed to allege that anyone “corruptly” did anything, that
any “official proceeding” was implicated, or what conduct by the Defendants constituted any actus
reus amounting to an “attempt[] to,” and allegedly successful “corruptly obstruct[ion], influence,
and impede[ment] [of] an official proceeding.”

Finally, if recourse to any of the “traditional tools of statutory construction leaves any
doubt” about the meaning of “corruptly obstructing, influencing, or impeding a proceeding before
Congress” as those terms are used in Section 1512(c)(2), this Court should also invoke the Rule
that “ambiguity concerning the ambit of criminal statutes should be resolved in favor of lenity.”
Yates, 574 U.S. at 547-48) (quoting Cleveland v. United States, 531 U.S. 12, 25 (2000)).

The government provided no evidence that the defendants were on restricted Capitol
grounds at the time protestors breached the inside of the Capitol Building and when Congress was

evacuated. By stipulation, members of Congress were ordered to be evacuated from the Capitol
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